IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

PEDRO MEDINA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURTS OF THE EIGHTH AND NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUITS, IN AND FOR BRADFORD AND ORANGE COUNTIES, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773

JENNIFER M. COREY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0999717

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Medina's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PC-R" -- record on instant 3.850 appeal to this Court (two volumes numbered pages 1 through 359);

"11/7/89 T." -- transcript of proceedings conducted 11/7/89 (one volume numbered pages 1-41);

"Supp. RI" -- supplemental volume I (one volume numbered pages 1 through 3);

"Supp. RII" -- supplemental volume II (six volumes, all denoted "Supplemental Vol. II," numbered pages 1-1148; 1 volume denoted "Supplemental Vol. VIII," numbered pages 1149-1156);

"Def. Ex." -- exhibits submitted at the evidentiary hearing; "App." -- appendix to Rule 3.850 motion;

"H." -- Transcript of 1988 evidentiary hearing testimony.

i

INTRODUCTION

Pedro Medina is both crazy and innocent. This case is reminiscent of the John Purvis case. <u>See Purvis v. Dugger</u>, 932 F.2d 1413 (11th Cir. 1991). There, a schizophrenic and brain damaged John Purvis was convicted of a crime that he did not commit. He spent ten years incarcerated for the murder of Susan Hamwi before his conviction was vacated by Judge Sheldon Shapiro on February 25, 1993. Subsequently, Ms. Hamwi's husband was convicted of the murder. <u>See Hamwi v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 291 (4th DCA 1996).

A schizophrenic and brain damaged Pedro Medina was convicted of the murder of Dorothy James. However, her daughters have both expressed their reservations regarding the conviction under oath. At the 3.850 evidentiary hearing in 1988, Lindi James testified:

> I have a big conscious [sic] and through the years, I've thought about, you know, people ask me about my mother and I tell them what happened to my mother. And the first reaction is, oh my God. They'll say, did they get who did it? My first response, from the time that it happened, well, they did arrest somebody, they did convict somebody, but I never thought that they [Pedro Medina] did it. They [the police] never asked me what I thought at the time.

(H. 395). In November of 1996, Lindi James reaffirmed this testimony in an affidavit:

I, LINDI JAMES, having been duly sworn or affirmed, do hereby depose and say:

1. Dorothy James was my mother. She was killed on April 3 or 4, 1982. I do not believe Pedro Medina killed my mother although he was convicted of doing so and sent to death row. I have never believed Pedro killed my mother.

2. I believe that the man who killed my mother has never been brought to justice. I informed Detective Nazarchuck that I thought someone else had committed the murder.

Lindi's sister Arnita James stated under oath in 1987:

8. I knew Pedro Medina as a very quiet person. I remember that he used to play chess with my sister. When he talked, it was hard for me to understand him because he did not speak English well at all. My mother seemed to understand. She was quite fond of him and tried to help him.

9. When Pedro was charged with killing my mother I was surprised because in my heart, I really didn't think he could do something like that.

(PC-R. 1382).

The case against Mr. Medina at trial was "not one of the strongest" as his trial prosecutor has stated under oath in explaining why he did not want to try the case:

Q Why didn't you want to try this case?

A Because I wasn't sure I could convict Mr. Medina.

Q Why do you say that?

A The case was dependent in part on a witness who disappeared and whom we issued a material witness warrant for and who was sometime, very shortly before the trial, arrested as I recall in Chicago, Illinois, who as a witness was incarcerated until this trial was over with.

He was, as I recall, the only witness that could even put Mr. Medina in the apartment complex that the victim lived in. And the case, as it turned on Mr. Medina's presence in the victim's apartment, turned on a hat that was found either on the bed or the floor. And there was no hair evidence that I could connect with Mr. Medina as it was related to that hat, but this witness claimed to have seen Mr. Medina in that apartment complex wearing that hat or a hat like it on the night that Mrs. James was killed. That's what I was skeptical of.

Q As far as other capital cases that you have prosecuted, would it be fair to characterize Mr. Medina as one of the weaker cases?

A It would be fair to characterize Mr. Medina's case as not one of the strongest from a prosecution point.

(H. 367-368).

The defense's theory during the trial was that Orange County Sheriff's Office ("OCSO") investigators ignored their original leads and failed to conduct further investigation into the case. The defense argued that because detectives ignored other leads, the identity of the killer remained unknown (R. 760).

In 1988, Lindi James testified:

A To me it didn't seem like they were really trying to find out who and, in fact, had killed my mother. To me it seemed, and I know that that was years ago and I probably subconsciously formed my own opinion, and that's how I feel now. But thinking back on it, I feel like they weren't really being investigative as to what really happened at the time of the death and that's--

Q Do you remember anything about what kind of questions they were asking you?

A Not really. I don't remember. Not right now, I can't sit here and say I remember.

(H. 394).

In fact, we now know that Lindi was correct. In November of 1996, the Orange County Sheriff Office's disclosed notes of interviews conducted by Detectives Nazarchuck and Payne in the first forty-eight hours after the discovery of Dorothy James' These notes were not previously disclosed to collateral body. counsel despite public records requests. At the evidentiary hearing in 1988 the entire Sheriff's file, which was produced by the Orange County Sheriff's records custodian, Pam Cavender, was introduced as Exhibit 4. See PC-R 155, 180-81, Evidence Volume V, Defense Exhibit 4. The two hundred eighteen page exhibit does not contain the handwritten notes which were not disclosed until November of 1996. In the notes, first disclosed in November of 1996, the detectives were informed that Ms. James' friends and family suspected two different men with whom Ms. James had recently been involved as the killer. One of the suspects was Billy Andrews who trial counsel knew about; the other Joseph Daniels was not disclosed to trial counsel or prior collateral counsel. Detective Nazarchuck testified on November 27, 1996, that no formal report about Joseph Daniels was prepared because "we were following the evidence, and the evidence led us in the other direction, which, in fact, again, led us to Pedro Medina." (11/27/96 T. at 69).

At Mr. Medina's trial, his attorneys maintained that Mr. Medina was innocent and that someone else committed the murder. In his closing argument defense counsel stated:

> I would ask you to consider an alternative, that being possibly Billy Andrews. And

consider a third alternative, the person who perpetuated this crime is unknown right now.

The police did not investigate enough, were not thorough enough in their investigation. At this point we don't know who it is. It's Billy Andrews or possibly somebody of Latin American extraction from Miami.

(R. 760).

In response to the defense theory, the Assistant State Attorney told the jury:

> Now, the State called every witness in this case that had any knowledge of information about it. We didn't hide the first thing. Sure, we called experts that had some inconclusive opinions. We didn't hide a thing from you. We let everything come in. You have it all.

And it's always a common practice for the Defense to say the police could have done this, the police could have done that, they could have done something better. But here it is. You have got it all.

(R. 791). This statement was false!

Newly discovered evidence reveals that prosecutors and the OCSO failed to disclose critical information to the defense. They failed to inform the defense that key prosecution witnesses initially told OCSO investigators that a man named Joseph Daniels had been threatening the victim during the weeks before her death, and that Dorothy James was in fear of Joseph Daniels and what he would do. Specifically, the police were told that Dorothy James was "afraid of him" (Joseph Daniels), that "he had threatened her several times," that he had "said if I can't have

he [r] no one will" and that "Daniels made a threat that he would get her (meaning Dorothy)."¹

But this was not the only exculpatory evidence not disclosed. The prosecution failed to inform counsel for Mr. Medina that the only prosecution witness who could place Mr. Medina at the scene, Reinaldo Dorta, was "a suspect in [] cases" before he was brought to Florida and held in solitary confinement in order to secure his testimony. <u>See</u> Notes of State Attorney Investigator attached to Rule 3.850 motion as Exhibit 1; Letter from Judge Winifred J. Sharp to Assistant Attorney General Shawn L. Briese a true and correct copy of which were attached to Motion to Vacate as Exhibit 2. <u>See</u> Declaration of Tangel-Rodriguez ¶ 2, Appendix to Rule 3.850 motion at App. 15.

The newly disclosed and discovered exculpatory evidence must be evaluated in light of previously presented evidence supporting <u>Brady</u> and ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Under <u>Kyles</u> <u>v. Whitley</u> and <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, cumulative consideration of all exculpatory evidence not presented to Mr. Medina's jury is violation of the constitution. When all the evidence is considered, confidence in the outcome is severely undermined.

Not only did the prosecutor compound the violation of <u>Brady</u> <u>v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by telling the jury that everything had been disclosed, <u>see Garcia v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), but the OCSO detective in charge of the investigation affirmatively withheld this information during his deposition. ROA. 1232 (Transcript of Deposition of Detective Daniel Nazarchuck). When asked whether there was anything the detective had not brought forth about his investigation, Detective Nazarchuck replied, "I think you'll find everything in my report or in the witnesses' statements which you should have." Id.

The State also failed to disclose impeachment evidence that Michael White had not been prosecuted for his own offenses and had a motive for seeking favor from the State. Also not known was that the incident between White and Mr. Medina involved marijuana. The State's analysis that "a stabbing death together with the fact that the car is the focal point of the [White] incident makes it relevant" was simply wrong. White was, at the time of the alleged stabbing, in possession of \$127.00 and five bags of marijuana. White submitted a claim for compensation for medical expenses as a result of the "stabbing." That request was denied because White was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time, i.e., possession of marijuana (PC-R.Def. Exh. 14). White was also on probation at the time of the stabbing, and although he was found in possession of marijuana, his probation was never revoked (PC-R.Def. Exh. 5).

Judge Powell's previous conclusion that Mr. Medina's collateral counsel had failed to prove that the police reports were about the same Michael White must be revisited in light of new previously unavailable evidence. On January 22, 1997, undersigned counsel finally located Mr. White. White acknowledged that he was the witness at Mr. Medina's trial, that he had been in possession of five bags of marijuana, and that he was not charged. Mr. Medina's jury heard none of this impeachment evidence regarding Michael White.

What is now known is that the detectives who investigated this case knew not only of Billy Andrews, but of another man,

Joseph Daniels, who was a likely suspect. Joseph Daniels, according to witnesses, was jealous, telling people "if I can't have he[r] no one will." "Daniels made a threat that he would get her (meaning Dorothy)." (App. 4). In fact, Joseph Daniels, the person that first came to mind when detectives questioned the victim's friends and family, was withheld from the defense. Notes recently obtained from OCSO detectives Daniel Nazarchuck and Diane Payne reveal that two of the state's chief witnesses told the officers that Joseph Daniels had threatened Dorothy James several times only three weeks prior to her murder. <u>See</u> App. 4.

Mr. Medina has consistently maintained that he did not kill Dorothy James. By withholding key evidence, the State deprived Mr. Medina of the adversarial testing to which he was entitled and which he needed to prove his innocence. A full and fair evidentiary hearing is required upon Mr. Medina's claim that he did not receive an adequate adversarial testing. Consideration must be given to the cumulative effect of the failure of the State to disclose and the failure of the defense to discover the wealth of available exculpatory evidence which the jury did not hear.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 14, 1982, the Grand Jury for Orange County,
Florida, indicted Mr. Medina for the first-degree murder of
Dorothy Clarke James (R. 1518). On June 15, 1982, a warrant was

issued for Mr. Medina's arrest on the murder charge and on a charge of grand theft (R. 1520).

2. Mr. Medina waived his personal appearance and arraignment on August 31, 1982 (R. 1596). That same day he entered a written plea of not guilty. <u>Id</u>.

3. Mr. Medina was tried before a jury in Orange County on March 15 through 18, 1983. The jury returned guilty verdicts (R. 1850-1852). The jury recommended a sentence of death and the trial court followed its recommendation (R. 1875, 1877-1879).

4. On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the convictions and sentence. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 466 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1985).

5. Mr. Medina was considered for clemency in 1987. Clemency was denied.

6. On June 5, 1987, Mr. Medina filed a motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing. On February 6, 1989, Judge Powell denied all relief.

7. Mr. Medina appealed the denial of his postconviction motion to the Supreme Court of Florida. The Court affirmed the lower court's decision. <u>State v. Medina</u>, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

8. The Supreme Court of Florida later denied Mr. Medina's state petition for writ of habeas corpus. <u>Medina v. Dugger</u>, 586 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1991).

9. Mr. Medina filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus which was denied on February 16, 1993. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. <u>Medina v. Singletary</u>, 59 F.3d 1095 (11th Cir. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S. Ct. 2505 (1996).

10. On February 17, 1995, Mr. Medina filed a lawsuit <u>pro se</u> against Capital Collateral Representative Michael Minerva, Assistant CCR Gail Anderson, and Assistant CCR Judith Dougherty. The lawsuit was brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

11. CCR obtained outside counsel to defend against Mr. Medina's lawsuit and it eventually was dismissed on Eleventh Amendment grounds. <u>Medina v. Minerva</u>, 907 F.Supp. 374 (M.D. Fla. 1995).

12. On June 17, 1996, Gail Anderson wrote a letter to Phyllis Hampton, Assistant General Counsel for the Governor, and informed her that due to the pending of Mr. Medina's lawsuit, "the CCR office believes that a conflict of interest still exists and that we cannot represent Mr. Medina." <u>See</u> App. 16.

13. On October 23, 1996, the Florida Supreme Court issued an Administrative Order establishing a procedure for providing capital postconviction litigants with conflict-free counsel. In conformity with the October 23 Administrative Order, a Notice of Conflict was filed in Mr. Medina's case on October 28, 1996. This notice was premised upon the facts outlined in the June 17, 1996, when Gail Anderson informed the Governor that CCR was not acting as Mr. Medina's counsel.

14. On October 30, 1996, the Governor signed a warrant for Mr. Medina's death which was to be carried out the week of December 2 through 9, 1996. The Secretary for the Department of Corrections scheduled the execution for 7:00 a.m., Thursday, December 5, 1996.

15. On November 1, 1996, the lower court held a hearing on the Notice of Conflict.

16. On November 5, 1996, Judge Powell issued an order directing CCR to assign new counsel to Mr. Medina's case and directing a conflicted Gail Anderson and Michael Minerva to not contact Pedro Medina or appear in subsequent proceedings on his behalf. CCR filed a notice of appeal.

17. On November 12, 1996, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed.

18. On November 25, 1996, undersigned counsel filed a motion to disqualify Judge Powell. On November 26, 1996, Judge Powell disqualified himself, and Judge Conrad was assigned to preside over the case.

19. On December 2, 1996, Mr. Medina's counsel informed the Governor that Mr. Medina may be incompetent to be executed. The Governor pursuant to § 922.07, Fla. Stat., appointed three psychiatrists to examine Mr. Medina on December 5, 1996. The psychiatrists subsequently issued a report expressing their conclusion that Mr. Medina was competent to be executed.

20. On December 6, 1996, undersigned counsel filed an unverified motion to vacate the judgment and sentence on behalf

11

of Mr. Medina. Counsel also filed a motion requesting a determination of Mr. Medina's competency to proceed.

21. On December 10, 1996, Judge Conrad held a status conference. He informed the parties that he would likely be assigned to hear any 3.811 motions in addition to the 3.850. He asked the parties for a discussion of what issues would likely be coming up and the order in which they would need to be addressed. Undersigned counsel advised the judge that as to the competency to proceed issue there were legal issues which needed to be resolved before an evidentiary hearing was held. These included whether there was a right to be competent to proceed in postconviction and if so what was the standard.

22. On January 6, 1997, Governor Chiles reset Mr. Medina's execution for January 29, 1997. Pursuant to Judge Conrad's previous directions, undersigned counsel promptly notified Judge Conrad of the setting of the execution.

23. On January 8, 1997, Judge Conrad called up a status conference on thirty minutes notice. Judge Conrad indicated that he would first hear the parties on the motion for a hearing on competency to proceed at a hearing to be set by an order to be issued later in the day. Subsequently, an order was issued setting the hearing for January 14, 1997. There was no indication that the hearing was an evidentiary hearing.

24. On January 10, 1997, undersigned counsel filed a 3.811 motion to determine Mr. Medina's competency to be executed.

25. On January 14, 1997, the hearing on Mr. Medina's motion for a determination of competency to proceed was held. After hearing argument, Judge Conrad ruled that there was no right in postconviction to be competent to proceed. The judge then indicated that he would nevertheless immediately commence an evidentiary hearing to determine Mr. Medina's competency. The judge indicated that Mr. Medina's counsel should have anticipated that evidence would be heard. He would not give counsel time to obtain the three experts who Mr. Medina's counsel wished to call to say that Mr. Medina was not competent.

26. On January 15, 1997, Judge Conrad issued his order finding that there was no right to be competent to proceed in postconviction. In the alternative, the court held that the State had proved Mr. Medina competent after holding a hearing that Mr. Medina's counsel had received no notice would be evidentiary.

27. On January 16, 1997, Judge Conrad issued an order finding that Mr. Medina's counsel had not issued any reasonable grounds for believing Mr. Medina not competent to be executed.

28. On January 16, 1997, Judge Conrad set Mr. Medina's 3.850 for hearing on January 21, 1997. After the State requested that the setting be for a <u>Huff</u> hearing, Judge Conrad issued an order on January 17, 1997, clarifying that the January 21, 1997, was in fact a <u>Huff</u> hearing at which evidence would not be heard.

29. On January 17, 1997, the State filed an answer to the 3.850 motion filed on December 6, 1996.

30. On January 21, 1997, a <u>Huff</u> hearing was held. In light of the State's request to dismiss for lack of a verification, Judge Conrad ordered undersigned counsel to attempt to obtain a verification from Mr. Medina. Undersigned counsel was unable to obtain a verification from an incoherent Mr. Medina. When the judge indicated that he felt compelled to dismiss the 3.850 without prejudice, the State purported to waive the verification requirement.

31. On January 21, 1997, undersigned counsel filed a motion for rehearing as to the ruling on Mr. Medina's right to a competency proceed determination and a reconsideration as to the ruling on the 3.811 motion.

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