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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 3.850 trial court properly found the five claims contained in Medina's successive Rule 3.850 motion to be procedurally barred under settled Florida law. The court correctly applied the procedural bars, and that ruling should be affirmed in all respects. The 3.850 trial court also entered alternative merits rulings which are supported by the record and should also be upheld.

To the extent that Medina challenges the competency proceedings, those claims fail. As to the motion to determine competency to proceed with the 3.850 motion, Medina received a hearing that he was not entitled to under the law, on a motion which, by his own admission, had no legal basis. The trial court

allowed Medina to present affidavits in support of his position which were considered by the court in deciding the issue. Medina received more than he was entitled to receive, and his complaints are, in reality, nothing more than his dissatisfaction with the court's decision.

To the extent that Medina argues that the competence for execution motion was incorrectly decided, that claim has no merit. The trial court properly found, based upon the material submitted pursuant the Rule 3.811, that there were no reasonable grounds to believe that Medina is insane to be executed. There was no abuse of discretion, and there was no error.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND EACH CLAIM TO BE PROCEDURALLY BARRED

In its order denying 3.850 relief, the Circuit Court found the claims contained in the petition to be procedurally barred because each claim could have been raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Medina's first state collateral motion. Each claim, as the Circuit Court found, is successive, untimely, and an abuse of procedure. Summary denial of the claims contained in the motion is proper for the reasons set out below.

CLAIM I¹

In its order denying relief as to Claim I of the motion, the trial court found that none of the evidence which Medina claims is "newly discovered" meets the definition of such evidence under the precedent of this Court. Order at 5. *Jones v. State*, 591 So.2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991). The trial court found as a fact that all of the evidence at issue could have been discovered at the time of trial through the exercise of due diligence and, for that reason, is time-barred. Order at 5-7. That finding is well supported by the record, is in accord with settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed. See, e.g., *Zeigler v. State*, 654 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1995); *Zeigler v. State*, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993); *Agan v. State*, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990); *Demps v. State*, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987).

1

To the extent that Medina may argue, based upon the facts contained in his circuit court motion for rehearing, that he has "newly discovered evidence" regarding witness Michael White, that claim fails for three reasons. First, any such claim is not timely raised because such claim was known to Medina in time to be raised before the January 23, 1997 denial of 3.850 relief. Second, that "evidence" cannot be newly discovered because White has been known to Medina since his 1983 capital trial. The situation here is indistinguishable from the situation in *Mills*, and is equally meritless. That "evidence" is not newly discovered; is not material under *Brady*; and would not probably produce a different result under *Jones*. Third, it is not proper to add evidence at the appellate stage of litigations when that "evidence" existed prior to the issuance of the trial court's order.

The trial court also entered alternative findings that, even if the evidence is newly discovered (and therefore not time barred), Medina is not entitled to relief because it "would [not] probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Order at 7, citing, *Jones v. State*, 591 So.2d at 915. As the trial court found, Medina's "trial counsel ably argued that Billy Andrews was the true murderer and that he had the motive and opportunity to kill the victim." *Id.* Moreover, any argument at trial that attempted to implicate Joseph Daniels as the killer would have detracted from the argument directed at Andrews, and would have confused the jury. Likewise, whether or not the witness Arnold was told not to say anything about marijuana "joints" found in an ashtray in the victim's home would not have changed the result because, as the trial court found, that information had no relevance to the murder. Order at 8.

In summarizing the evidence against Medina, the trial court stated:

Faced with the evidence that the murder could have occurred in only a limited time period, that the Defendant was seen around the victim's apartment during that time, that no forced entry was discovered, that Defendant admitted the victim knew him and would allow him to freely enter her home, that he was in the victim's apartment after she died, that he left his hat at the scene, that he took the victim's car and attempted to sell it, and

that he was found in the car along with a knife hidden under a hubcap, the jury had no choice but to convict Defendant. And, more importantly, that choice would have been the same even if presented with the additional evidence concerning Billy Andrews, Joseph Daniels, the marijuana "joints" and other cigarettes. Accordingly, this Court finds that presentation of this allegedly newly discovered evidence would not have produced an acquittal on retrial.

Order at 8-9. To the extent that Medina may raise an ineffective assistance of counsel component as to this issue, that claim is procedurally barred under settled law, as the trial court found. *Mills, supra*. Alternatively, even ignoring the procedural bar, Medina is not entitled to relief because he cannot meet the prejudice prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 189 (1984), as the trial court found. Order at 10.²

The *Brady* component of this claim is also procedurally barred because the evidence upon which it is based is not "newly discovered". Order at 10. Further, as the trial court found, even if this material is "newly discovered", the result does not change because there is no violation of *Brady* in the first place. Order at 10-11. Florida law is settled that *Brady* does not require disclosure of preliminary, discontinued investigations of all

2

The trial court did not address the performance prong because Medina could not establish prejudice.

possible suspects in a crime. *Spaziano v. State*, 570 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1990). The circuit court properly found that Medina suffered no prejudice, and that the evidence was not "newly discovered", was not material under *Brady*, and would not probably produce a different result under *Jones*.

CLAIM II

The trial court found that Claim II was procedurally because the purported "newly discovered evidence" upon which that claim is based was not "newly discovered", but was evidence that could have been discovered at the time of trial through the exercise of due diligence. Order at 11-16. All of the documents upon which this claim is based have been existence and contained within the court file of Medina's case for over ten (10) years (Order at 14) and could easily have been found by a review of that court file. This claim is procedurally barred under settled Florida law. *Mills, supra*. To the extent that a letter contained in the Department of Corrections records is at issue, that claim, as the Court found, is nothing more than an unsubstantiated allegation inasmuch as the letter has never been provided to the Court by the defendant. Order at 15. However, as the court found, "in light of the fact that this letter was contained within the Department of Corrections records, if Defendant's counsel had exercised due diligence, the letter

easily could have been found and any issue raised by its contents could have and should have been raised in Defendant's initial 3.850 motion." Order at 15. The trial court's finding that this claim is procedurally barred is in accord with settled Florida law, and should be affirmed. *Mills, supra; Bolender, supra; Zeigler, supra.*

Alternatively, the exhibits which Medina claims support this claim prove only that this claim has no basis in fact. In any event, the trial judge had the authority to hold witness Dorta as a material witness. The most that can be said about this claim is that Dorta sought, and was denied, habeas corpus relief from detention as a material witness in Medina's capital trial. Those facts do not implicate Medina's conviction and sentence. In any event, Medina suffered no prejudice. None of the "evidence" is material under *Brady*, none of the evidence is "newly discovered", and none of the evidence would probably produce an acquittal under *Jones*.

CLAIM III

The trial court denied claim III because that claim is not a claim that is cognizable in a Rule 3.850 motion. Specifically, the court found that this claim, which argues that an amendment to §940.03, *Florida Statutes*, which established a time limitation for an application for executive clemency by a capital defendant, is

not an attack on the judgment or sentence and is, therefore, not properly brought in a Rule 3.850 motion. Order at 16-17.

The law is settled that clemency is an executive function. See, e.g., *Herrera v. Collins*, 506 U.S. 390 (1993). Likewise, the law is clear that the Governor has absolute discretion to exercise the executive's pardon power, and that there is no "liberty interest" attendant to Florida's clemency procedures. See, e.g., *Sullivan v. Askew*, 348 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1977); *Bundy v. Dugger*, 850 F.2d 1402, 1423-4 (11th Cir. 1988). The clemency claim is a non-issue, and it is not cognizable in this proceeding. See, e.g., *White v. Singletary*, 663 So.2d 1324, 1325 (Fla. 1995).

CLAIM IV

In resolving Medina's "innocence of death" claim, the trial court found this *Espinosa*-based claim to be procedurally barred because trial counsel did not object at trial to the jury instructions as given, nor did trial counsel request any limiting instruction. Order at 18. See, e.g., *Stewart v. State*, 632 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1993); *James v. State*, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993). That decision is in accord with the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' disposition of the same claim, wherein that Court stated:

The trial court instructed the jury with the language rejected by the Supreme Court in *Espinosa*, and the jury was not provided any narrowing instructions. Medina,

however, never requested a limiting instruction. In fact, Medina's counsel specifically approved the instructions given to the jury. Medina never raised the issue of a limiting instruction on direct appeal, in his Rule 3.850 motion for postconviction relief, or in his state habeas petition.

Although this issue was not addressed in the state courts, we hold that it would be procedurally barred because Medina did not request a limiting instruction and did not object to the instruction as given. The claim is therefore procedurally defaulted for purposes of federal habeas corpus and, as Medina failed to even suggest any cause or prejudice, this Court is precluded from addressing the merits of the claim.

Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1114 (11th Cir. 1995).

As to Medina's claim concerning the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance, the trial court found that that claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal or in Medina's first post-conviction motion. Order at 19. *See, e.g., Mikenas v. State*, 460 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1984). The trial court's procedural bar findings are in accord with settled Florida law, and should be affirmed in all respects.

The trial court also entered an alternative finding that, even if the claim is not procedurally barred, it does not entitle Medina to relief because this murder is heinous, atrocious, or cruel under any definition of that aggravating circumstance. Order at 18. That finding is in accord with settled law, and should be affirmed in all respects. *See, e.g., Williamson v. State*, 681 So.2d 688 (Fla.

1996); *Finney v. State*, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995); *Henderson v. State*, 617 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1995).

CLAIM V

The trial court found Medina's fifth claim, that he was not present at the bench when peremptory strikes were exercised and that he never "ratified" the strikes made by defense counsel, to be procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Medina's prior post-conviction proceedings. Order at 20. That procedural bar finding is in accord with settled Florida law, and should be affirmed. *See, e.g., Henderson v. State*, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988) (finding bar as to identical claim); *Lambrix v. State*, 559 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1990); *Kelley v. State*, 569 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1990). To the extent that this claim includes an ineffective assistance of counsel component, the trial court correctly found that claim procedurally barred because it could have been raised in the prior postconviction proceeding. Order at 20. That is a procedural bar. *See, e.g., Kight v. Dugger*, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); *Medina v. State*, 573 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1990).

The trial court also entered alternative findings as to this claim in which the court applied this Court's decision in *Boyett v.*

State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S535 (Fla., Dec. 5, 1996)³. In *Boyett*, this Court clearly stated that the rule announced in *Coney v. State*, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) concerning a defendant's presence at the site of the exercise of peremptory challenges is only to be applied prospectively. Order at 22. *Coney* does not apply to this case.

To the extent that Medina may argue that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on not only due diligence but also on the merits of the claims, that claim fails. Summary denial of the claims contained in the petition was proper. *Mills, supra*; *Bolender, supra*; See also, *White v. State*, 664 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1995); *Atkins v. State*, 663 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1995); *Zeigler v. State*, 654 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1995); *Zeigler v. State*, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993); *Foster v. State*, 614 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1992). Each claim contained in the petition is barred by multiple procedural bars, and is properly subject to summary denial. The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S RESOLUTION OF THE COMPETENCY ISSUES WAS CORRECT

The trial court's determinations that Medina is competent to

3

Boyett was decided the day before Medina filed his 3.850 motion.

proceed with his Rule 3.850 motion and that he is competent for execution are correct. Medina filed a motion for a determination of competency to proceed with his 3.850 motion, and called that motion for hearing. At that hearing, the psychiatrists who comprised the Governor's competency commission testified that Medina was malingering, is competent under the Rule 3.211/*Dusky* criteria, and is being competent for execution under the Rule 3.811 criteria. (TR123-26; 186-189; 245-248) The Court allowed Medina to submit affidavits in support of his position, and he should not be heard to complain because he got what he asked for.⁴ *Cf., Stano v. State*, 497 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 1986). In any event, Medina agreed to travel upon the affidavits submitted in support of this claim. (TR294)

The Circuit Court found, based upon *Jackson v. State*, 452 So.2d 533, 537 (Fla. 1984), that Medina was not entitled to a judicial determination of his competence at the post-conviction stage. However, because of the nature of the case, the Court also conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of Medina's

4

During the hearing, Medina argued that he was "unprepared" for the hearing because he expected the motion to be denied based on *Jackson v. State*. That argument is the functional equivalent of an admission to having filed a frivolous motion. That argument is insufficient to establish error. (TR 91; 106)

competence. At that hearing, the parties agreed that the standard to be applied in determining Medina's competence was the standard that applies at the pretrial stage--in other words, the *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402 (1960) standard.⁵ That standard is incorporated into *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.211.

In its order finding Medina competent to proceed, the Court summarized the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, as well as the post-hearing affidavits submitted by Medina.⁶ After weighing the evidence, the trial court, sitting as the fact-finder, entered the following findings of fact:

- 1) Defendant has a sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding;
- 2) Defendant has a rational, as well as factual, understanding of the proceedings against him;
- 3) Defendant has the capacity to appreciate the charges or allegations against him;
- 4) Defendant has the capacity to appreciate the range and

5

Dusky requires that the defendant have a "sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding" and a "rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him".

6

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